2016

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Cullen Christopher Carrick,
Defendant/Appellant : Brief of Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals is conferred with jurisdiction over the instant appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(e) inasmuch as this is an appeal from a court of record in a criminal case not involving a conviction or charge of a first-degree felony or capital felony.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES / STANDARDS OF REVIEW / PRESERVATION

1. Whether the trial court erred by denying Defendant's motion for a directed verdict.

Standard of Review: The trial court's ruling on a motion for a directed verdict is reviewed for correctness. *See Gonzalez v. State*, 2015 UT 10, ¶ 21, 345 P.3d 1168 (citing *Ferguson v. Williams & Hunt, Inc.*, 2009 UT 49, ¶ 19, 221 P.3d 205).

Preservation of Issue Citation or Statement of Grounds for Review: Defendant preserved this issue by way of his motion and argument for a directed verdict set forth at R. 489-96.

2. Whether the trial court erred by admitting the hearsay statement asserted to establish Defendant's intent to commit theft.

Standard of Review: In reviewing hearsay rulings, the appellate court reviews legal questions regarding admissibility for correctness, questions of fact for clear error, and the final ruling on admissibility for abuse of discretion. *State v. Workman*, 2005 UT 66, ¶ 10, 122 P.3d 639 (citations and internal quotations omitted); *State v. Jackson*, 2010 UT App 328, ¶ 9, 243 P.3d 902.

Preservation of Issue Citation or Statement of Grounds for Review: Defendant preserved this issue by way of his objection and argument set forth at R. 621-22.

3. Whether the trial court erred by failing to instruct the jury as to the definition of the culpable mental state element of both Burglary and Criminal Trespass.

Standard of Review: Jury instructions are reviewed under a correctness standard, with no particular deference granted to the trial court. *See Ong Int'l (U.S.A.) Inc. v. 11th Ave. Corp.*, 850 P.2d 447, 452 (Utah 1993); *State v. Gibson*, 908 P.2d 352, 354 (Utah Ct.App.1995), *cert. denied*, 917 P.2d 556 (Utah 1996).

Preservation of Issue Citation or Statement of Grounds for Review: Defendant raises this issue pursuant to plain error. In *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1993), the Utah Supreme Court outlined the following principles or elements for establishing “plain error”:

In general, to establish the existence of plain error and to obtain appellate relief from an alleged error that was not properly objected to, the appellant must show the following: (i) An error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is harmful, i.e., absent the error, there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome for the appellant, or phrased differently, our confidence in the verdict is undermined.

Id. at 1208-09; *State v. Dean*, 2004 UT 63, ¶ 13, 95 P.3d 276; *accord State v. Larsen*, 2005 UT App 201, ¶¶ 5-6, 113 P.3d 998; *see also* Utah Rule of Evidence 103(e). This issue may be reviewed – in the absence of an objection – “to avoid a manifest injustice.” *See* Utah R. Crim. P. 19(e); *see also State v. Cobo*, 90 Utah 89, 60 P.2d 952, 958-59 (1936).

4. Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to the lack of instruction as to the culpable mental state for both Burglary and Criminal Trespass.

Standard of Review: To make such a showing, a defendant must show, first, that counsel rendered a deficient performance, falling below an objective standard of reasonable professional judgment, and, second, that counsel's performance was prejudicial. *Bundy v. DeLand*, 763 P.2d 803 (Utah 1988). The appellate court reviews such a claim as a matter of law. *State v. Robertson*, 2005 UT App 419, ¶ 5, 122 P.3d 895; *State v. Maestas*, 1999 UT 32, ¶ 20, 984 P.2d 376; *State v. Strain*, 885 P.2d 810, 814 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

Preservation of Issue Citation or Statement of Grounds for Review: Issues involving claims of ineffective assistance of counsel constitute an exception to the preservation rule and as such may be raised for the first time on appeal.

5. Whether the cumulative effect of the errors before and during trial merits reversal of Defendant's conviction of Burglary. "[T]he cumulative error doctrine . . . requires [the appellate court] to apply the standard of review applicable to each underlying claim of error," which is set forth respectively. *Radman v. Flanders Corp.*, 2007 UT App 351, ¶ 4, 172 P.3d 668, *cert. denied*, 186 P.3d 957 (2008). After assessing the claims, the appellate court will reverse "under the cumulative error doctrine only if the cumulative effect of the several errors undermines . . . confidence that a fair trial was had." *State v. Killpack*, 2008 UT 49, ¶ 56, 191 P.3d 17 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Preservation of Issue Citation or Statement of Grounds for Review: The preservation of issue citation or Statement of Grounds for Review for each underlying claim of error is set forth above, respectively.

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY

The constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, or case law whose interpretation is determinative, are set out verbatim, with the appropriate citation, in the body and arguments of the instant Brief of Appellant.

STATEMENT OF RULE 23B MOTION FILING

Defendant previously filed a Rule 23B Motion, which the Court – on April 20, 2017 – deferred for consideration in conjunction with the briefing.¹ In the Rule 23B Motion, Defendant raises numerous claims of ineffective assistance of counsel that precluded Defendant from receiving a fair trial. Defendant incorporates the statements of fact and arguments set forth in his Motion into his Brief of Appellant. The adjudication by the trial court of the Rule 23B Motion is critical to the issues presented by Defendant in his Brief of Appellant.

¹A true and correct copy of the Order – dated April 20, 2017 – deferring consideration of the Rule 23B Motion with the briefing is attached to this Brief as Addendum A.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction of Burglary, a second-degree felony, by way of jury trial, the Sentence, Judgment, Commitment of which was entered on March 1, 2016, in the First District Court, Box Elder County, the Honorable Brandon J. Maynard, presiding.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. *Burglary Charge*

By Information² filed December 31, 2014, the State charged Defendant with Burglary, a second-degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-202 (R. 1-2). The Factual basis / Probable cause statement stated, “Defendant was witnessed by neighbors entering the house of the victim through a screen window and then leaving a few moments later (R. 2).

Defendant requested a preliminary hearing on April 6, 2015, which the court set for May 6, 2015 (R. 38). He appeared with counsel on the appointed day and waived his right to a preliminary hearing (R. 202:10-11; R. 43-45). Defendant pleaded not guilty to the charge (R. 202:17-18).

²The State subsequently filed an Amended Information on February 4, 2015, to remedy the incorrect name of “Christopher Carrick Cullen” listed on the original Information (*See* R. 1 and R. 13-14).

The court scheduled a two-day jury trial for November 5 & 6, 2015 (R. 48-49). At a subsequent pretrial conference, the court – pursuant to the stipulation of counsel – continued the jury trial and reset the trial for January 21 & 22, 2016 (R. 60).

On January 10, 2016, Defendant’s trial counsel filed an Alibi Witness List pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 77-14-2(1), which stated the following;

1. On the date alleged in the information, the defendant attended the funeral of his paramour with Celeste McCulley, Elias Carrass, Matt Bishop and Tawni Malmberg.
2. The defendant, and those individuals listed above, met, traveled and attended the funeral together.
3. After the funeral, at around 4:00 pm, those individuals and the defendant participated in a balloon release in remembrance of the deceased in the parking lot of the funeral home.
4. After the balloon release, the defendant was driven back to his vehicle in Harrisville and returned to his home in Huntsville. At no time did he, or any individual in his party, go to the home of the alleged victim.

(R. 72-73).³

B. *Jury Trial*

The parties appeared for the jury trial on January 21, 2016 (R. 84). Following jury selection, the court and counsel discussed changes to the jury instructions (R. 286-91).

³A true and correct copy of the Alibi Witness List, R. 72-73, is attached to this Brief as Addendum B.

During opening, the prosecutor stated, “Was something taken? As we take a look at burglary – and we’ll look at that here in a minute – it doesn’t matter. What matters is he went in there looking for something, to take something.” (R. 308:13-15).

Defense counsel opened by asserting that Officer Fielding “didn’t do very much investigation.” (R. 311:23-24). He argued that “[n]o fingerprint dusting was ever done . . . CSI was not called . . .” and “[t]here was no – any DNA evidence searched for or found.” (R. 314:22-25). Counsel emphasized that no photo lineup was utilized by Officer Fielding (315:12-18). He asked the jury to protect Defendant from the “shoddy police work.” (R. 317:3-10). Finally, counsel argued that “the State cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt the elements of this crime.” (R. 317:17-19).

At trial, Kristine Starkey, a next-door neighbor to Zakary Taylor, testified that she did not know Defendant at the time and had not previously met him (R. 319-20). She testified that she saw Defendant at April Taylor’s funeral in Brigham City on May 21, 2014, and at the balloon release in the funeral home parking lot following the funeral (R. 321-22).

Following the funeral and balloon release, Ms. Starkey returned to her home in Willard with her daughter, Jessica Roberts (R. 323:4-23). After pulling into the driveway, while getting out of the car, she claimed to have seen an individual in the backyard of the Taylor home, removing the screen and crawling in through the garage window (R. 324:1-10). When she and her daughter went into her house and came back out, the individual was crawling out of the window and then replaced the screen (R. 327:12-20). She did not see

the individual carry anything out of the house (R. 334:19-20). Becoming suspicious, she waved at him and he waved back (R. 327-28). According to Ms. Starkey, the individual then went through a gate and walked down the driveway (R. 111:8-10).

On cross-examination, Ms. Starkey admitted that her witness statement provided to Officer Fielding did not include a hat in her description of the suspect (R. 339:19-21). When asked if she had been shown any photographs by Officer Fielding, Ms. Starkey stated, “Not until after – in fact, I don’t think I even saw a picture. No.” (R. 343:23-25).

Jessica Roberts, the daughter of Kristine Starkey, testified that she attended the funeral with her mother and her daughter (R. 362:5-6). She did not know Defendant at the time (R. 363:15-21). At trial, she testified that she saw Defendant at the funeral, wearing “a western cowboy hat” (R. 364:4-5). Upon arriving at her mother’s house after the funeral, she noticed an individual walking down the Taylor’s driveway (R. 365:14-15). She observed him open the gate and go into the backyard, go to the window, remove the screen, and go in through the window (R. 366:16-18). After calling 911, Officer Fielding arrived and someone pulled Defendant up on Facebook (R. 371:17-20). Officer Fielding pulled up Defendant’s driver license photo on his computer and Ms. Roberts identified him (R. 374:1-4).

On cross-examination, Ms. Roberts testified that Officer Fielding did not show her any other photos other than Defendant’s driver license picture (R. 379-80). She also

admitted that her description of the suspect contained in her witness statement did not include a hat – just the description of a slender individual with long hair (R. 378:13-19).

Stephen Atkinson, a friend of Zakary Taylor, testified that he went to Mr. Taylor's house after the funeral to wait for his wife, Celeste (R. 403-05). He testified that he knew Defendant from what his wife and April Taylor had told him and from pictures that his wife had shown him (R. 406-07). Mr. Atkinson claimed that he saw Defendant walking down the driveway when he arrived at the Taylor home, and that Defendant walked "briskly" towards a silver Toyota 4Runner (R. 407-08).

On cross-examination, Mr. Atkinson admitted that Officer Fielding had pulled up Defendant's driver license picture and showed it to him (R. 419:6-11). Officer Fielding never asked him again about the silver Toyota 4Runner (R. 419:18-20).

Celeste Atkinson, the spouse of Stephen Atkinson, testified that April Taylor was her best friend, that she knew Defendant and April were having "an affair", and that she was very upset about their relationship (R. 425:12-13). Ms. Atkinson testified that she saw Defendant coming out of the backyard as she was driving by the Taylor home (R. 427:22-24). She said she was "[p]ositive, a hundred percent" is was Defendant (R. 428:4-6). On cross-examination, Ms. Atkinson testified that April had told her that she had filed for divorce from her husband, Zakary Taylor, in 2013 (R. 432:4-6).

Zakary Taylor,⁴ the husband of April Taylor, testified that he had learned of Defendant the day April went into the hospital, which was maybe three days before she died (R. 435:13-20).⁵ Mr. Taylor testified that he – after looking in the house – did not notice anything missing (R. 444:19-24). He also testified that he had not given Defendant permission to enter the house (R. 445-46; R. 451:23-25).

On cross-examination, Mr. Taylor testified that in October that same year he had again told Officer Fielding that he “couldn’t find anything missing from [the] home” (R. 453:2-6). He also testified that he “may have seen a picture when Officer Fielding pulled it up on his computer in the car.” (R. 454:2-5).

Theron Fielding, a police officer with the Willard City Police Department, testified that after he responded to the 911 call, the people at the scene “had found a name off of Facebook.” (R. 457:9-10). He pulled Defendant up on his database for identification purposes (R. 457:13-20). The six to ten people who were at the scene all gathered around his police truck and began telling him “they had seen this individual go into the house” (R. 458-59). Officer Fielding testified that he very seldom sees a screen put back like in this case (R. 459-60). He also testified that – unlike this case – he usually is called to a burglary

⁴Mr. Taylor – according to his testimony – apparently had not been excluded as a witness pursuant to the exclusionary rule and as a result had been “sitting through the trial” and had “heard the testimony” presented during trial (*See* R. 433:9-11).

⁵According to Mr. Taylor, he and Jessica Roberts began “hanging out a whole lot” after his wife’s death (R. 435:15-25).

scene “because stuff has been taken.” (R. 460:4-7). Finally, he testified that he did not dust for fingerprints because there were no obvious fingerprints on the window (R. 460:15-19).

On cross-examination, Officer Fielding testified that he did not get a picture from the Facebook page that night (R. 479:11-13). He also testified that when he pulled up Defendant’s driver license picture in his vehicle, whoever was there “may have looked in and seen it.” (R. 479:15-23). According to Officer Fielding, nine days later he was directed by the Chief of Police to take that same driver license picture to Ms. Roberts and have her re-identify Defendant and initial the picture, which he did (R. 480-82). No other pictures were shown to Ms. Roberts (R. 480:4-10).⁶ Finally, Officer Fielding admitted that he had a fingerprint dusting kit in his truck at the time, which is not too terribly expensive (R. 488:13-16).

Following Officer Fielding’s testimony, the State rested (R. 489:3). Defendant’s counsel moved for a directed verdict, arguing that the State had not met its burden of showing that Defendant had entered or remained unlawfully in the house with the intent to commit a felony or a theft (R. 489 *et seq.*). According to counsel, “[t]here’s been no showing of any type of intent that Cullen Carrick had on that day. And, again, assuming arguendo that he was there, there has not been any showing of that intent.” (R. 490 *et seq.*).

⁶Officer Fielding stated that it “was weird to [him] that [he] was even going and having her re-identify a picture she’d already identified.” (R. 481:5-6).

As to the lesser included offense of Criminal Trespass, counsel argued that the State – assuming the court finds that Defendant had entered and remained unlawfully in the house – had likewise failed to show that Defendant “was reckless as to whether his presence would cause fear for the safety of another.” (R. 490 *et seq.*). Counsel contended that the State had “not provided anyone to testify that [Defendant’s] presence there caused fear.” (R. 490 *et seq.*).

In response, the prosecutor argued that he intended to argue in closing arguments that Defendant is “where he’s not supposed to be. He’s having an affair with the victim’s wife and he’s entering into their home A reasonable, plausible explanation is he’s in there because he’s looking for something.” (R. 491 *et seq.*).

Regarding the lesser included offense of Criminal Trespass, the prosecutor claimed that “[i]t’s reckless disregard that it could have caused fear for the safety of another, and that’s clearly what the statute contemplates.” (R. 493:14-16). The prosecutor further argued that the statute “only requires a reckless disregard that it may cause fear. And it certainly could have if somebody had actually walked into the house on him while he was in there.” (R. 493:16-19).

The trial court ruled on Defendant’s motion for a directed verdict as follows:

Mr. Bushell, I – I believe that there is sufficient evidence that a reasonable jury could find each of the elements as it relates to the burglary. There is circumstantial evidence your client – it’s been testified to that your client has been in the house previously, that there was an affair that was going on. He was the one seen coming and going from the building.

And, therefore, I believe that there is sufficient evidence that a jury could reasonably find that an individual had the intent to commit a theft.

Likewise, and for the State's reason in the argument, the lesser included as to reckless, I agree with the State.

And for those reasons, I'm going to deny your motion for a directed verdict.

(R. 495-96).⁷

Tanya Malmberg, April Taylor's friend, testified for the defense that she had met Defendant at the hospital the night April passed away (R. 498-99). She testified that she sat with Defendant at the funeral and was with him at the balloon release (R. 499-501). However, on cross-examination, Ms. Malmberg testified that she had not driven to or from the funeral with Defendant (R. 499:18-19; R. 505:23-25).

Matthew Bishop, April Taylor's co-worker and Defendant's friend, testified that he drove to and from the funeral with Defendant and another co-worker (R. 509-10; R. 511:3-5). He simply testified that Defendant was with him the entire time (R. 511:21-22). On cross-examination, the prosecution questioned why he did not contact the police concerning his key knowledge of the case (R. 515-18).

Elias Caress, Defendant's good friend, testified for the defense that he was with Defendant during the balloon release (R. 596:14-21). On cross-examination, Mr. Caress testified that he knew Defendant from the Renaissance Faires (R. 598:14-17).

⁷A true and correct copy of the partial transcript containing the arguments of counsel and the trial court's ruling on the motion for a directed verdict, R. 489-96, is attached to this Brief as Addendum C.

Celeste McCulley, April Taylor's good friend, testified that she attended the funeral with Elias in his car, sitting with Defendant and other friends (R. 602:7-9). She became acquainted with Defendant through the Renaissance Faires (R. 601:14-19). According to Ms. McCulley, Defendant never left the funeral (R. 604:14-17).

During cross-examination, Ms. McCulley testified that she received a telephone call from Zakary Taylor a day or two after the funeral, informing her that someone had broken into his house the day of the funeral (R. 605-06). She responded by suggesting that it might have been "Misty's son because he is known for breaking and entering into their families' homes on the day of funerals." (R. 606-07).

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