Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2016

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Cullen Christopher Carrick, Defendant/Appellant: Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Defendant also argues that McCulley's statement was improperly admitted because despite the trial court's ruling, the trial court allowed the State to use the statement in closing argument as substantive evidence of Defendant's intent when he entered the Taylors' home. Aplt.Br. 35-37. If this were true, the State was in fact entitled to do so under rule 801. *See supra*, at 23-24. Accordingly, there would be no prejudice suffered by Defendant in

any event. But the prosecutor did not use the statement to prove the truth of the matter asserted.

The State did not even reference McCulley's memento statement during its closing argument, let alone use it as substantive evidence of Defendant's intent to commit theft. R642-56,669-80 (attached at Addendum C). The prosecutor argued that "if you can go into the jury room and you can find a reasonable explanation as to why he wasn't there to take something, that's fine." R645. But the "State can't think of any reason," and "it's abundantly clear from the inferences that he was there to go find something and take it." Id. Then, after explaining what circumstantial evidence is, the prosecutor argued that the jury could "infer from the fact that [Defendant] went into that house," and that the jury could "infer from the motives that are likely that, in fact, he was in there to find something." R648,650. The prosecutor explained, "that's what we call circumstantial evidence." R648,650.

Similarly, in rebuttal, the prosecutor referred the jury to Instruction 27—the one addressing proof of intent—and reminded the jury that intent, "being a state of mind is seldom susceptible to proof of direct or positive evidence." R671. Again, the prosecutor did not mention McCulley's challenged statement. Rather, the prosecutor asked—where Defendant

entered his deceased lover's home, stayed only a few minutes, and then hung up on the police when they asked him what he was doing there — "what other purpose" was he there for? R671-72.

The record, then, does not support Defendant's contention that the trial court improperly admitted McCulley's challenged statement as hearsay. Nor does it support Defendant's contention that the State used her statement as substantive evidence in closing argument. Defendant's argument that McCulley's statement was improperly admitted hearsay, therefore, fails.

Ш

DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT PLAINLY ERRED IN NOT INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE MENTAL STATE FOR BURGLARY FAILS UNDER THE INVITED ERROR DOCTRINE; HIS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM FAILS BECAUSE HE CAN SHOW NEITHER DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE NOR PREJUDICE

In Point III of his brief, Defendant argues that the trial court committed plain error by not instructing the jury on the mental state required for

burglary. Aplt.Br. 38-42. In Point IV, Defendant argues that defense counsel was ineffective for not requesting such an instruction. *Id.* at 42-45. ⁸

Defendant nowhere identifies the specific instructional error he claims occurred at trial. *Id.* at 38-45. However, when setting out the statutory definition of burglary in his plain error argument, he italicizes the "intent to commit" element. *Id.* at 39. And when arguing prejudice related to his ineffective-assistance claim, Defendant asserts that in "light of the issues surrounding Defendant's lack of intent to commit theft, among others, trial counsel should have objected to the lack of instruction." *Id.* at 44. It thus appears that Defendant's complaint on appeal is that the burglary elements instruction was not supplemented with an instruction defining "intent" in the "intent to commit theft" element.

The invited error doctrine precludes Defendant's plain error claim.

Defendant's ineffectiveness claim fails because he has not shown that no

⁸ Although Defendant also challenges the absence of a specific intent instruction related to the "reckless" element of trespass, Aplt.Br. 38-45, Defendant was not convicted on that charge. R130. Thus, any error in the instructions related to it was necessarily harmless. *See State v. Valdez*, 30 Utah 2d 54, 513 P.2d 422, 424 (Utah 1973) ("under ordinary factual situations where a jury finds the defendant guilty of a greater offense, the giving of an erroneous instruction on a lesser offense is not deemed prejudicial). The State, therefore, responds only to Defendant's arguments related to the burglary charge on which he was convicted.

competent counsel would proceed without requesting an instruction and because he was not prejudiced by the lack of an instruction.

A. Defendant's plain error claim fails under the invited error doctrine.

"While a party who fails to object to or give an instruction may have an instruction assigned as error under the manifest injustice exception, Utah R. Crim. P. 19(e), 'a party cannot take advantage of an error committed at trial when the party led the trial court into committing the error." *State v. Geukgeuzian*, 2004 UT 16, ¶9, 86 P.3d 742 (citations omitted). Consequently, under the invited error doctrine, "a jury instruction may not be assigned as error even if such instruction constitutes manifest injustice 'if counsel, either by statement or act, affirmatively represented to the court that he or she had no objection to the jury instruction." *Id.* (citation omitted).

In this case, the elements instructions were included in the trial court's opening instructions. R93-112. Before the court read those instructions to the jury, the court asked if defense counsel had "any objections" to them. R291. Counsel responded, "No, Your Honor." *Id*.

The closing instructions—which included various instructions on mental state—were addressed repeatedly during trial. At one point, the court went through each instruction individually and confirmed with both counsel that they had no objection to each individual instruction. R346-57. At the close

of that discussion, the court asked, "Were there any other instructions that the prosecution or the defense wanted to insert but have not?" R357. (emphasis added)

Defense counsel responded, "No." Id. (emphasis added).

Finally, before reading the closing instructions to the jury, the court asked whether the prosecution had "any additions" and whether there was "anything else." R631-32. The prosecutor responded, "I believe we're okay with them, Your Honor." R632. When the court asked defense counsel, he said, "I didn't see anything either, Your Honor." *Id*.

Repeatedly throughout trial, then, defense counsel "affirmatively represented to the court" both that counsel had no objection to the instructions given and that no additional instructions were required. *Geukgeuzian*, 2004 UT 16, ¶9. Defendant therefore invited any instructional error by the trial court, and his plain error claim is precluded by the invited error doctrine. *Id*.

B. Defendant's ineffective assistance claim fails because he has not shown either that all other competent counsel would have requested the specific intent instruction or that he was prejudiced by the instruction's absence.

To show that his counsel was ineffective, Defendant must prove both that his counsel performed deficiently and that he was prejudiced as a result. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-89, 694, 697 (1984). "Surmounting Strickland's high bar is never an easy task." Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 371 (2010). Defendant has not overcome that high bar.

1. Defendant cannot show deficient performance—that no competent counsel would have forgone the specific intent instructions.

To prove deficient performance, Defendant must show "that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88. To meet that burden, Defendant must rebut the "strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *id.* at 689. To do that, Defendant must "persuad[e] the court that there was *no conceivable tactical basis* for counsel's actions." *State v. Clark*, 2004 UT 25, ¶6, 89 P.3d 162 (emphasis in original) (quotations and citation omitted).

But a defendant's ability to rebut *Strickland*'s presumption "does not ... automatically mean that an attorney's performance was constitutionally inadequate." *Bullock v. Carver*, 297 F.3d 1036, 1051 (10th Cir. 2002). The presumption is "simply [a] tool[] that assist[s] ... in analyzing *Strickland*'s deficient performance prong." *Id.* at 1046. And although the presumption can be dispositive, it is dispositive only of a finding of effective performance, not deficient performance.

Consequently, whether counsel's performance has a conceivable strategic basis is only the first step of in evaluating *Strickland's* deficient performance prong. The inquiry must go further. If counsel's performance lacks any conceivable strategic basis, a reviewing court must still ask whether counsel's performance was objectively reasonable. *See Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 481 (2000); *Bullock*, 297 F.3d at 1048.

This is because the "relevant question is not whether counsel's choices were strategic, but whether they were reasonable." *Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 481. Moreover, to decide whether counsel's choices were reasonable, the crucial "question is whether an attorney's representation amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms, not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom." *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 105 (2011). There is "no expectation that competent counsel will be a flawless strategist or tactician." *Richter*, 562 U.S. at 110. "The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight." *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (per curiam); *accord Burt v. Titlow*, 134 S.Ct. 10, 18 (2013); *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687.

Counsel, therefore, does not necessarily perform deficiently even if he makes "minor mistakes" during trial. *Dows v. Wood*, 211 F.3d 480, 487 (9th

Cir. 2000). Indeed, "even if an omission is inadvertent, relief is not automatic." *Gentry*, 540 U.S. at 8. "To state the obvious, the trial lawyers, in every case, could have done something more or something different. So, omissions are inevitable. But, the issue is not what is possible or 'what is prudent or appropriate, but only what is constitutionally compelled." *Chandler v. United States*, 218 F.3d 1305, 1313 (11th Cir. 2000)) (quoting *Burger v. Kemp*, 483 U.S. 776, 794 (1987)).

The "relevant question under *Strickland*" is whether "no competent attorney" would have done the same. *Premo v. Moore*, 562 U.S. 115, 124 (2011); see also Harvey v. Warden, Union Corr. Inst., 629 F.3d 1228, 1239 (11th Cir. 2011) (counsel deficient only when "counsel's error is so egregious that no reasonably competent attorney would have acted similarly"); Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 1305, 1315 & n.17 (11th Cir. 2000) (en banc) (to show deficient performance, defendant "must establish that no competent counsel would have taken the action that his counsel did take"). And even when an attorney errs, "[i]t will generally be appropriate for a reviewing court to assess counsel's overall performance throughout the case in order to determine whether the 'identified acts or omissions' overcome the presumption that counsel rendered reasonable professional assistance." Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 386 (1986). Thus, "'where counsel's representation is objectively reasonable under all the circumstances of a case and ensured that the defendant received a fair trial overall, it makes no difference that certain decisions may have been unreasonable or made without a full recognition of the consequences.'" *Bullock*, 297 F.3d at 1049 (quoting *United States v. Smith*, 20 F.3d 724, 729 (10th Cir. 1993) (per curiam)).

Here, Defendant has not met his heavy burden of showing that counsel's performance was unreasonable. As stated, Defendant's contention appears to be that defense counsel should have sought a jury instruction defining "intent" for purposes of burglary's "intent to commit ... theft" element. Aplt.Br. 38-45.

Defendant, however, nowhere identifies what that instruction should have been. *Id.* Presumably, his contention is that counsel should have sought an instruction on the statutory definition of the intentional mental statute. Thus, presumably, Defendant's contention is that counsel should have sought an instruction that a person acts "[i]ntentionally, or with intent or willfully with respect to the nature of his conduct or to a result of his conduct, when it is his conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct or cause the result." Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-103(1) (West 2015).

But this definition matches the plain meaning of "intent": "the design or purpose to commit a wrongful or criminal act" or "a usually clearly

formulated or planned intention," https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/intent (visited September 19, 2017); "intention or purpose," https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/intent (visited September 19, 2017); "something that is intended; purpose; design," http://www.dictionary.com/browse/intent (visited September 19, 2017); "purpose, object, aim," https://www.collinsdictionary.com/us/dictionary/english/intent (visited September 19, 2017). See also http://www.dictionary.com/browse/intentionally (defining "intentionally" as "done with intention or on purpose") (visited September 19, 2017); https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/intentionally (defining intentionally as "deliberately; on purpose") (last visited September 19, 2017).

And both the statutory definition and the plain meaning of "intent" are consistent with what the State suggested in its opening statement—that Defendant "went in [the Taylors' home] looking for something, to take something," "for the purposes of retrieving something from that house." R208-09.

Thus, competent counsel could have reasonably concluded that a jury instruction was not necessary because the meaning of "intent" was "within the jury's common knowledge." *People v. Powell*, 512 N.E.2d 1364 (Ill. Ct. App. 1987) (rejecting contention that trial court erred in not defining "intentionally

and knowingly" for jury, concluding that "those terms have a plain meaning within the jury's common knowledge").

Defendant's ineffectiveness claim, then, fails on the deficient performance element alone. But it also fails on the prejudice element.

2. Defendant cannot show prejudice.

To prove prejudice, Defendant must demonstrate "a reasonable probability" that but for counsel's performance, "the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* In other words, "[t]he likelihood of a different result must be *substantial*, not just *conceivable*." *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693) (emphasis added).

For the same reason Defendant cannot show deficient performance, he cannot show prejudice. The definitional instruction he claims defense counsel should have sought would, in essence, have provided the jury with nothing more than the plain meaning of "intent." *See* pp. 36-37 *supra*. There is no

reasonable likelihood that the result of Defendant's trial would have been different, therefore, had the instruction been given.⁹

IV

DEFENDANT'S CUMULATIVE ERROR ARGUMENT FAILS BECAUSE DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN ANY ERROR, LET ALONE PREJUDICE THEREFROM.

Finally, Defendant argues that the cumulative error doctrine entitles him to relief. Aplt.Br. 45-46. This Court "will reverse a jury verdict under the cumulative error doctrine only if the cumulative effect of the several errors undermines ... confidence that a fair trial was had." *State v. Killpack*, 2008 UT 49, ¶58, 191 P.3d 17 (quotation omitted); *State v. Perea*, 2013 UT 68, ¶107, 322 P.3d 624 (cumulative error applies when a court's "collective errors rise to a level that undermine[s] our confidence in the fairness of the proceedings"). Defendant has not demonstrated that the trial court erred in denying his directed verdict motion or admitting McCulley's "memento" statement. Nor

⁹ The State notes that at one point in his argument, Defendant observes that the jury was provided a definition instruction for "knowingly." Aplt.Br. 40; *see also* R122 (Instr. 28). Defendant does not claim, however, either plain error or ineffective assistance related to that instruction. *See id.* In any event, that instruction, combined with the absence of an instruction defining "intent," would only impress upon the jury that it should apply the plain meaning of "intent" in the burglary statute. Alternatively, the "knowingly" instruction was superfluous and, thus, harmless. *See State v. Malaga*, 2006 UT App 103, ¶14, 132 P.3d 703 (because instruction was superfluous, any error in giving it was harmless); *State v. DeAlo*, 748 P.2d 194, 198 (Utah App. 1987) (same).

has Defendant demonstrated that his counsel's performance was deficient in any respect. Because Defendant has not demonstrated any error, the cumulative error doctrine is inapplicable. *See Perea*, 2013 UT 68, ¶107.

CONCLUSION

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